80.4

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BELLEVUE FARM OWNERS ASSOCIATION, et al., Respondents,

v.

CHAD STEVENS, Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darrell L. Cochran, WSBA No. 22851 Jason P. Amala, WSBA No. 37054 Beth A. Davis, WSBA No. 45674 Attorneys for Appellant

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA PLLC 403 Columbia Street, Suite 500 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 462-4334

RECEIVED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE

MAY - 3 2017

# **

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Chad Stevens asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

## **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Stevens seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision, filed on April 3, 2017, upholding the trial court's refusal to bifurcate and stay one of his claims in order to protect privileged information. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-19.

## C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals' published decision presents an issue of enormous importance for parties who ask a trial court to stay the litigation of one claim, such as a bad faith claim, a legal malpractice claim, or an abuse of process claim, in order to protect privileged information regarding underlying claims until those claims are resolved:

1. After nearly two years of litigation between Mr. Stevens and the other parties, Mr. Stevens added an abuse of process counterclaim against one of the other parties, Mark Baute. The abuse of process claim is based on misconduct by Mr. Baute during the litigation of the original claims and counterclaims that caused Mr. Stevens to incur attorney's fees and costs. Mr. Stevens filed the abuse of process counterclaim because he needed to preserve his statute of limitations. However, at the same time he moved to add the abuse of process counterclaim, he contemporaneously asked the trial court to stay the abuse of process of claim until the original claims and counterclaims were resolved. Mr. Stevens asked the trial court to stay the abuse of process of counterclaim because of concerns the counterclaim may result in the discovery of privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims and may result in his legal counsel being called as a fact witness, which would mean he would need to retain new counsel if the abuse of process claim was litigated at the same time as the other claims and counterclaims. The trial court refused the stay. The trial then ordered Mr. Stevens to produce privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims, including the time sheets of his attorneys, even though those claims and counterclaims are not resolved. Did the trial court err when it refused to bifurcate and stay the abuse of process claim and ordered Mr. Stevens to produce privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims and counterclaims are not resolved. Did the trial court err when it refused to bifurcate and stay the abuse of process claim and ordered Mr. Stevens to produce privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims and counterclaims are not resolved. Did the trial court err when it refused to bifurcate and stay the abuse of process claim and ordered Mr. Stevens to produce privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims?

## **D.** STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2012, respondents Bellevue Farm Owner's Association and a number of its property owners (hereinafter "BFOA") sued appellant Chad Stevens (hereinafter "Mr. Stevens") regarding new restrictions that BFOA placed on the property of owners and on the common areas within the association.<sup>1</sup> For example, BFOA passed a "clarification" of its Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions ("CC&Rs") that stated owners could not allow renters to use some of the common areas without

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appendix A-2-3; CP 195-204; CP 209-216.

BFOA's permission.<sup>2</sup> When Mr. Stevens voted against the "clarification," BFOA sued him and asked the trial court to declare the "clarification" was lawful.<sup>3</sup>

Mr. Stevens filed counterclaims against BFOA that mostly mirrored the claims of BFOA and asked the trial court to declare the new property restrictions were unlawful.<sup>4</sup> For example, Mr. Stevens alleged the "clarification" regarding renter use of certain common areas should be declared unlawful because the CC&Rs allowed such use, renters had been using those common areas for many years.<sup>5</sup>

One of the other property owners who joined BFOA's lawsuit against Mr. Stevens is Mark Baute.<sup>6</sup> Mr. Baute is a California attorney who previously served on BFOA's Board of Directors.<sup>7</sup> Mr. Baute originally represented BFOA and the other homeowners who joined in BFOA's suit against Mr. Stevens. However, just eight months after BFOA's lawsuit was filed, the trial court revoked Mr. Baute's *pro hac vice* status for misconduct.<sup>8</sup>

On April 11, 2014, Mr. Stevens moved to add a counterclaim against Mr. Baute for abuse of process based on allegations of misconduct during

<sup>4</sup> CP 686-702; CP 192-217.

<sup>6</sup> A-2-3.

<sup>8</sup> A-3-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 195-204; CP 209-211.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 209-211

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 690-92; CP 197-200.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A-3.

the litigation regarding the original claims and counterclaims.<sup>9</sup> For example, Mr. Stevens alleged it was appropriate to add an abuse of process claim because "[i]t is now rather obvious that Mr. Baute engaged in motion practice and discovery misconduct that was designed to impede the litigation, harass Mr. Stevens, cause unnecessary delay, and needlessly increase Mr. Stevens' litigation costs."<sup>10</sup>

On July 17, 2014, Mr. Stevens filed his Fifth Amended Counterclaims, which included the new counterclaim against Mr. Baute for abuse of process and requested the attorney's fees and costs he incurred as a result of Mr. Baute's abusive conduct.<sup>11</sup> More specifically, Mr. Stevens alleged that "[o]ver the course of this lawsuit, Mr. Baute has engaged in motions and discovery processes designed to impede the litigation, harass Stevens, cause unnecessary delay, and/or designed to needlessly increased Stevens' litigation costs."<sup>12</sup>

Mr. Stevens provided examples of Mr. Baute's abusive conduct during the litigation regarding the original claims and counterclaims, including the "clarification" of the CC&Rs: drafting, signing, and filing pleadings, declarations, and discovery responses for himself and other plaintiffs that knowingly and falsely asserted that the reasons for the "clarification" were valid and that Mr. Stevens and his tenants had engaged

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 1-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 9-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 189-191; CP 211-217; A-4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 213; A-4-5.

in a wide range of misconduct to justify restrictions against his property interests.<sup>13</sup> In his request for relief, Mr. Stevens asked that he be awarded the attorney's fees and costs he incurred as a result of Mr. Baute's abusive conduct regarding the original claims and counterclaims.<sup>14</sup>

On the same day that Mr. Stevens moved to protect his statute of limitations by adding the counterclaim for abuse of process, he also moved the trial court to stay that counterclaim until the original claims and counterclaims were resolved.<sup>15</sup> Mr. Stevens requested a stay because he believed the abuse of process counterclaim might eventually require discovery of privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims and might require the parties' counsel to become witnesses:

If the parties conduct discovery regarding the abuse of process ... claim[], all parties will likely have to produce information that would otherwise be privileged, such as communications between Mr. Baute, the BFOA Board of Directors, and the other plaintiffs regarding the basis for their claims and the manner in which the litigation was conducted. It is also possible that the parties' respective past and current counsel will become witnesses, as reflected by discovery that Mr. Baute's wife issued to defendant Stevens the day after he filed and served the new counterclaims.<sup>16</sup> ...

If discovery is not stayed regarding [the abuse of process counterclaim], all parties ... will be forced to engage in extensive and expensive discovery, as reflected by Ms. Birchfield's recent discovery requests to defendant Stevens. Not only will that discovery be extremely wasteful if the Court's resolution of [the CC&R issues] would bring an end

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 213-14; A-4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 216; A-4-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 11-21; A-5-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 12.

to all of the litigation, but allowing that discovery to proceed will likely result in each party having to disclose information that would otherwise be privileged. All of the parties ... will be unfairly prejudiced if they have to produce information that would otherwise be privileged regarding the CC&R issues. *See e.g. Ullerich v. Sentry Ins.*, 344 Wis.2d 708, 716, 824 N.W.2d 876, 880 (2012) ("permitting discovery relevant to the bad faith claim would risk prejudice to the insurer on the breach of contract claim because there would be disclosure of work product and attorney-client material under the bad faith discovery.").<sup>17</sup>

The trial court denied the motion and refused to stay the abuse of process claim.<sup>18</sup>

Shortly after the trial court refused to stay the abuse of process counterclaim, Mr. Baute issued discovery that asked for information regarding Mr. Stevens' attorneys and costs regarding the original claims and counterclaims.<sup>19</sup> However, the Special Master appointed to this case cautioned the parties that "special care must be taken to preserve attorney client privilege and attorney work product because the case has not yet been heard," urged the parties to confer on the issue, and suggested they "seek a ruling from the trial judge before discovery of time sheets proceeds."<sup>20</sup>

Mr. Baute then moved to compel Mr. Stevens to produce privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims, which have not been resolved and are still being litigated, including the detailed time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 233-235; A-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 123-124; A-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 123-124; A-5.

sheets of his attorneys.<sup>21</sup> On March 30, 2015, after an *in camera* review of the time sheets that reflected work done by Mr. Stevens' counsel on the original claims and counterclaims, the Special Master denied Mr. Baute's motion to obtain the privileged information.<sup>22</sup> In her order, the Special Master found the information would disclose privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims, would invade the attorney/client privilege and work product doctrines, and would compromise the ability of Mr. Stevens' counsel to continue to represent him regarding the underlying claims and counterclaims:

[A] review of the billings indicates that producing them would disclose both descriptions of attorney/client communications and attorney work product, i.e. strategy, areas of research, names of individuals being interviewed, etc. ...

... there is no way to reasonably redact sensitive entries and permit examination of the rest. It would be an overly burdensome and expensive task and the redacted billings would not give an accurate picture of what the attorney fees are.

The Discovery Master cannot appropriately order that defense counsel produce these billing records before the liability trial without invading the attorney/client privilege and work product doctrine protections. Disclosure of the billings pre-trial would compromise defense counsel's ability to represent his client.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP 318-328; A-6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP 1380-82; A-7-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP 1382.

To avoid that severe and irreparable prejudice, the Special Master proposed the parties stipulate "to plaintiffs' full discovery of defendant's fees and costs post trial, as is customary, if the jury finds for defendant" and "to [the trial judge's] determination of the amount of damages after trial if liability is established."<sup>24</sup> The Special Master noted "[t]here may be other solutions that protect both parties' interests."<sup>25</sup>

Despite the Special Master's order, Mr. Baute issued 70 new interrogatories and 58 requests for production. The majority asked for discovery regarding Mr. Stevens' attorney's fees and costs, including information in the time sheets the Special Master concluded were privileged.<sup>26</sup>

Mr. Stevens timely moved for a protective order renewing his request that the abuse of process claim and any related discovery be stayed until the original claims and counterclaims were resolved.<sup>27</sup> Mr. Stevens reiterated that the discovery Mr. Baute sought regarding the attorney's fees and costs Mr. Stevens incurred as a result of Mr. Baute's abusive conduct would disclose privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims that are still being litigated:

[Mr. Baute's requests] also ignore the Special Master's conclusion that any of their relief requested would "compromise defense counsel's ability to present his client." Disclosing this information would severely prejudice Mr. Stevens as even the redacted information would disclose the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 1382.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP 1382.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP 1543-1569.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 1501-13; A-9.

work product of his counsel regarding both his claims and his counterclaims, particularly since most of the fees and costs were incurred as a result of Mr. Baute and the Board's misconduct regarding the underlying claims. There is no way to disclose that information, even partially, without prejudicing Mr. Stevens, as the Special Master concluded after her *in camera* review of the information sought by plaintiffs.<sup>28</sup>

Given the Special Master previously agreed the trial court needed to protect Mr. Stevens from having to disclose privileged information regarding the underlying claims and counterclaims until those claims and counterclaims were resolved, Mr. Stevens proposed the Special Master bifurcate and stay the abuse of process claim under CR 42(b).<sup>29</sup>

After Mr. Stevens filed his motion for a protective order, Mr. Baute rejected the Special Master's proposed stipulated procedures and asked for reconsideration.<sup>30</sup> While Mr. Baute demanded that Mr. Stevens produce privileged information, he suggested the Special Master could alternatively allow Mr. Stevens to redact privileged information.<sup>31</sup>

Mr. Stevens opposed the motion and reiterated the irreparable prejudice he would suffer if he was compelled to produce privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims that remain unresolved.<sup>32</sup> To the extent Mr. Baute suggested Mr. Stevens could provide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 1623; *see also* CP 1627-28 (Mr. Stevens' counsel discussing with the trial court his proposal that any discovery regarding privileged information be stayed until the original claims and counterclaims are resolved).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 1625-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP 1325-35; A-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP 1334.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> CP 1425-37

redacted information, Mr. Stevens noted redactions would not provide sufficient relief because Mr. Stevens would be limited in what evidence he provided to the jury on the abuse of process claim: "For example, Mr. Stevens might very well choose to call one or more of his attorneys to testify regarding the work that was done and the fees and costs that were incurred, which would make it impossible for those attorneys to represent Mr. Stevens in the same trial. Likewise, Mr. Stevens might want to provide the jury with unredacted copies of the time entries for the fees and costs at issue."<sup>33</sup>

Mr. Stevens also clearly explained how the information Mr. Baute sought regarding the attorney's fees and costs Mr. Stevens incurred as a result of Mr. Baute's abuse of process would disclose privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims:

As the Special Master is aware from her *in camera* review, the vast majority of the time entries at issue reflect work that is related to those other claims. For example, the counterclaims are based in part on the misrepresentations that Mr. Baute and the BFOA Board made regarding tenant use of the waterfront. However, the parties are still litigating the "clarification" CC&R 4, which was based in part on those same misrepresentations. There is simply no way for Mr. Stevens to provide discovery on the work that has been done regarding those misrepresentations without revealing information protected by the attorney client privilege or work product doctrine, and without severely compromising his claims and defenses. Likewise, it would be impossible for Mr. Stevens to have a jury trial regarding the "clarification" of CC&R 4, while in the same jury trial present evidence and witnesses regarding the counterclaims for abuse of process and breach of fiduciary duty. While

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP 1429-30.

some of the evidence will overlap, Mr. Stevens still has the burden of proof regarding damages, which means that same trial would involve him presenting evidence and witnesses to support those damages, including privileged information.<sup>34</sup>

Mr. Stevens explained he had been unable to find a single case in the United States "where a litigant was forced to waive the attorney-client privilege and conduct discovery on the issue of attorney's fees and costs before a trial on the underlying claims or issues has been decided. As is the case here, to do so would force Mr. Stevens to make the improper and 'painful choice' alluded to [by federal appellate courts].<sup>35</sup>

The Special Master requested the trial court resolve Mr. Stevens' motion for a protective order and Mr. Baute's motion for reconsideration:

The trial court has previously declined to stay or bifurcate [the abuse of process claim]. Only the trial court can decide whether some other trial management technique should be employed to protect defendant's work product and privilege in his billing records while granting plaintiffs the discovery necessary to guarantee a fair trial.<sup>36</sup>

Before the trial court could address the Special Master's request for guidance on how to proceed, Mr. Baute issued subpoenas for the depositions of Mr. Stevens' counsel, which were stayed until the trial court decided whether it would protected Mr. Stevens' privileged information.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> CP 1430.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> CP 1436.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP 672; A-9-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> RP, dated June 5, 2015, at 58-60.

On August 5, 2015, the trial court denied Mr. Stevens' motion for a protective order, including his request that the abuse of process claim be bifurcated and stayed until the original claims and counterclaims are resolved. The trial court also declined to follow the Special Master's recommendation that the trial court take steps to protect Mr. Stevens from having to disclose privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims and counterclaims until they are resolved.<sup>38</sup>

Instead, the trial court ordered Mr. Stevens to produce unredacted copies of his time sheets for all attorney's fees and costs he incurred as a result of Mr. Baute's abusive conduct, including time sheets that contain privileged information regarding the original claims and counterclaims.<sup>39</sup> The trial court also ordered Mr. Stevens to produce copies of all other attorney's fees and costs he has incurred, without task descriptions.<sup>40</sup> The order reserved compelling Mr. Stevens to answer the other 70 interrogatories and 58 requests for production until Mr. Baute reviewed the unredacted time sheets and privileged information and decides whether he wants additional discovery of more privileged information.<sup>41</sup>

At the hearing before the trial court, Mr. Stevens again pointed out the order means his counsel for the past three years will have to withdraw because he will be a fact witness not only as to the amount of attorney's fees

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> CP 671-675; A-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP 674.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> CP 674.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Id.

and costs, but the underlying misconduct by Mr. Baute that caused those fees and costs to be incurred.<sup>42</sup> Mr. Stevens also pointed out the statute of limitations on the abuse of process claim had also likely run because more than three years had elapsed regarding some of the misconduct.<sup>43</sup> The trial court acknowledged this severe prejudice to Mr. Stevens, but indicated the case needed to move forward and Mr. Stevens would have to live with what the trial court deemed were the "consequences" of his decision to protect his statute of limitations by filing the abuse of process counterclaim.<sup>44</sup>

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