#### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### **CLERK'S OFFICE**

6/2/2017 3:23 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 73794-5-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# BELLEVUE FARM OWNERS ASSOCIATION, a non-profit corporation; *et al.*,

Respondents,

v.

#### CHAD STEVENS, et al.,

Appellant.

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

William W. Simmons, WSBA #35604 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 2700 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 436-2020 Attorneys for Respondents

##

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

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Stevens' argument that the Court of Appeals decision creates a chilling effect on every civil litigant in Washington is absurd. Stevens hopes that this Court will ignore the trial court's and discovery master's repeated careful consideration of Stevens' bifurcation requests and rejection of bifurcation after weighing the various competing interests.

For three years now, Stevens has had a basic misunderstanding of the relevant law that has caused unnecessary delay. *Assuming arguendo* that Stevens delay and stalling tactic was not intentional, there has been a refusal on his part to accept basic and well-accepted general principles of tort law and implied waiver. Proximately caused harm is an essential element of the tort of abuse of process. If attorneys fees are the only alleged damages supporting that essential element, they are discoverable. It is not akin to post-judgment fee shifting. Stevens has always had a misconstrued idea of the sword/shield doctrine. He believes that he can file an abuse of process claim, allege significant damages and then hide the only evidence of those damages by claiming privilege.

There is no need for bifurcation. There never was. There is only a need to deny the Petition and put an end to Stevens' abusive litigation tactics that are designed to stall and delay this litigation and make it as costly as possible for BFOA.

Stevens conspicuously avoids mention of the applicable standard of review. This Court reviews discovery orders and the manner in which a trial court controls litigation under the abuse of discretion standard. *Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr.*, 117 Wn.2d 772, 778, 819 P.2d 370 (1991) (noting it is the proper function of the trial court to exercise its discretion to control the litigation before it); *Fellows v. Moynihan*, 175 Wn.2d 641, 649, 285 P.3d 864 (2012); *Myers v. Boeing Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 123, 140, 794 P.2d 1272 (1990) (noting a trial court's bifurcation decision is a matter within that court's discretion); *Demelash v. Ross Stores, Inc.*, 105 Wn. App. 508, 519, 20 P.3d 447(2001) (noting a trial court has wide discretion in ordering pretrial discovery).

Judicial discretion "means a sound judgment which is not exercised arbitrarily, but with regard to what is right and equitable under the circumstances and the law, and which is directed by the reasoning conscience of the judge to a just result." *State ex rel. Clark v. Hogan*, 49 Wn.2d 457, 462, 303 P.2d 290 (1956).

The Court will find an abuse of discretion and reverse a discovery ruling only on a "clear showing" that the exercise of discretion was manifestly unreasonable, based on untenable grounds, or made for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). *See also, Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664,

668-69, 230 P.3d 583 (2010) (noting a trial court abuses its discretion only when it adopts a view that no reasonable person would take, applies the wrong legal standard, or relies on unsupported facts).

The trial court is in the best decision to control the litigation before it and is in the best position to weigh the competing needs of the litigants. *See Marine Power & Equip. Co. v. Dep't of Transp.*, 107 Wn.2d 872, 734 P.2d 480 (1987) (noting the discretionary authority of the trial court to control the litigation before it) (citing *Seattle Times Co. v. Rhinehart*, 467 U.S. 20, 81 L. Ed. 2d 17, 104 S. Ct. 2199 (1984) (holding the trial court is in the best position to weigh fairly the competing needs and interests of parties affected by discovery and noting the unique character of the discovery process requires that the trial court have substantial latitude).

Stevens does not address this in his Petition in hopes that the Court will not recognize the lack of any public interest at stake in the Court of Appeals decision. On the issue of bifurcation, the Court of Appeals simply rejected Stevens incorrect assertion that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it balanced the competing interests of the parties, entered the August 5, 2015 discovery order and again rejected bifurcation. Appendix at A18-19.

There is no question that the trial court in this case is in the best position to understand the competing interests of the parties and the

potential prejudices. The trial court understands that under Stevens' theory of the case, BFOA has two options - either stipulate to the fact of damage thereby admitting liability under the abuse of process claim, without gaining access to the only evidence of those alleged damages; or sixteen off-island owners would be forced to incur exorbitant costs to appear for multiple trials on the same underlying factual issues.

The trial court understood the unfairness to BFOA under either of those scenarios. The trial court weighed that unfairness against the potential unfairness to Stevens in having to produce purportedly privileged information. In weighing that unfairness, the trial court noted its agreement with the discovery master that by placing the claim at issue, and trying to hide the only evidence of an essential element under the guise of privilege, Stevens waived the privilege and the potential prejudice to BFOA outweighed that of Stevens.

This does not create any chilling effect on litigants. It is not based on untenable grounds or made for untenable reasons. It is a sound decision made by the trial court after careful consideration. The chilling effect on litigants would result from Stevens' theory of this case. In his alternate universe, litigants would be able to sue an opposing party and force them to stipulate to essential elements of the claim, while hiding the only evidence that may establish those essential elements under a claim of

privilege. While that may be a workable solution in some other case, it is not here where we are dealing with a meritless counterclaim and apparent fake damages.

Stevens does not challenge the Court of Appeals decision on the issues of proximately caused harm as an essential element of the tort of abuse of process or the implied waiver of any privileged materials contained in the subject attorney fee spreadsheets. This is relevant to denial of Stevens' Petition because the waiver renders bifurcation moot.

The attorney/client privilege is waived when: (1) assertion of the privilege was the result of some affirmative act, such as filing suit, by the asserting party; (2) through this affirmative act, the asserting party put the protected information at issue by making it relevant to the case; and (3) application of the privilege would have denied the opposing party access to information vital to his defense. *Pappas v. Holloway*, 114 Wn.2d 198, 207, 787 P.2d 30 (1990) (citation omitted). Importantly, waiver is decided on a case-by-case basis. *Steel v. Olympia Early Learning Ctr.*, 195 Wn.App. 811, 823-24, 381 P.3d 111 (2016) (holding legal precedent does not expressly limit application of the implied waiver doctrine to legal malpractice claims and that implied waiver should be considered on a

case-by-case basis.)<sup>5</sup>

Once a privilege is waived it cannot be regained and there would be no reason for a bifurcation<sup>6</sup>. State v. Smith, 84 Wn. App. 813, 929 P.2d 1191 (1997) (holding privilege, once waived, cannot be regained); In re G-I Holdings, Inc., 218 F.R.D. 428 (D.N.J. 2003) (denying motion to bifurcate discovery or trial where debtor impliedly waived attorney-client privilege).

Here, Stevens committed an affirmative act and put protected information at issue by asserting his only claimed damages are his attorney fees and costs. Notably, he was aware of the risk that his counterclaims might require the discovery of privileged information and chose to proceed irrespective of that risk. He appears to have mistakenly assumed the disclosure of privileged information would be one-way and to his advantage.

Stevens cannot counterclaim against Baute for abuse of process and at the same time conceal from Baute innocuous billing records that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Kammerer v. Western Gear Corp., 96 Wn.2d 416, 635 P.2d 708 (1981) (holding defendant waived attorney-client privilege in partial stipulation, thereby allowing discovery of privileged document); Sitterson v. Evergreen Sch. Dist. No. 114, 147 Wn. App. 576, 196 P.3d 735 (2008) (holding school district waived attorney-client privilege attached to letters with its counsel and further holding trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting letters into evidence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See also 8 JOHN HENRY WIGMORE, EVIDENCE IN TRIALS AT COMMON LAW § 2389(4) at 860-61 (McNaughton rev. 1961) (stating: "A waiver . . . takes away once and for all the confidentiality sought to be protected by the privilege. To enforce it thereafter is to seek to preserve a privacy which exists in legal fiction only.").

have a direct bearing on his counterclaims simply because the attorney/client privilege or the work product doctrine protects those records. To allow him to do so would enable him to use as a sword the protection the Legislature awarded him as a shield. *Pappas*, 114 Wn.2d at 208. As the discovery master correctly observed, it would also deny Baute the right to a fair trial. These are all factors considered by the trial court in finding the waiver and rejecting bifurcation. The fact that Stevens has not challenged the Court of Appeals decision affirming the waiver finding, renders bifurcation moot.

Stevens argument that counsel will have to withdraw is a red herring and barely requires a response. Stevens failed to inform the court that he did not list his counsel as witnesses for trial and he affirmatively stated in response to discovery that he will not be calling them to testify. Regardless, even if BFOA were to call Stevens' counsel to testify at trial, the prohibition against an attorney serving as both advocate and witness at trial does not apply where the attorney will provide testimony relating to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the case. RPC 3.7(a)(2).

Stevens' Petition must be denied. He has engaged in nearly a three year campaign to delay and stall this litigation by filing meritless counterclaims and unnecessary appeals. Stevens' sole purpose in pursuing this appeal is to overturn a reasoned, discretionary decision of the trial

court, and affirmance of that decision by the Court of Appeals, with which he disagrees and thereby delay resolution of this case- an illicit purpose for an appeal. Stevens brings this appeal despite ample, unambiguous case law foreclosing his arguments. He wastes the time of this Court and the parties on meritless arguments.

The abuse of process counterclaim is itself meritless, filed purely as a stalling tactic by Stevens, who hoped its pendency would enable him to escape the consequences of the material losses that he sustained below at the trial court level, in which nearly all of his counterclaims have been dismissed by summary judgment, or voluntarily dismissed under CR 41 with a summary judgment motion pending.

The only party that has abused the system here is Stevens, not any of his neighbors. Baute is merely one of nineteen plaintiffs, but for tactical reasons Stevens finds it convenient to attack Baute to divert attention from the fact that all of the plaintiff neighbors are unified in protecting the privacy and seclusion of Bellevue Farm. All of the BFOA Respondents jointly seek denial of this Petition to bring years of stalling by Stevens to a graceful and definitive end, this year.

Stevens omits entirely from his Petition that he dismissed all traditional economic loss from his counterclaims years ago (CP117) and when pressed to explain what remaining damages he had left, if any, the

only thing he could conjure up was "attorney fees damages." Since then he has been on a dilatory campaign to hide the evidence of those "damages." This is, of course, the reason why all three tribunals, the discovery master, the trial court and the Court of Appeals found that those "damages" are discoverable as the only evidence of an essential element of abuse of process. Stevens chose to voluntarily open that door in order to gain what he hoped would be tactical advantage of stalling the resolution of this case. Stevens did not challenge the essential element and waiver decisions by the Court of Appeals. It is clear that his real motive for filing the current Petition, on an issue that is rendered moot by the decisions on the other two issues, is that he seeks to delay the trial date for another four to five months while this Petition is pending.

Even if bifurcation is not rendered moot, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting bifurcation. In addition to the reasons stated above, bifurcation is completely unnecessary and would be a complete waste of the trial court's and the plaintiffs' time and costs. There is no real privileged information at stake here. The discovery master noted that the bulk of the time entries are innocuous. At the inception of this dispute BFOA proposed that Stevens provide simple innocuous task descriptions which he refused and instead purposefully included mental impressions in the spreadsheets.

Had Stevens acted reasonably and provided the innocuous time sheets the last three years of motions and appeals would have been avoided.

Instead Stevens furthered his dilatory campaign to delay and stall. Despite that campaign, Baute has already had multiple summary judgment motions and motions in limine on Counterclaim 13 granted by the trial court, thereby reducing the scope of Stevens alleged damages by over half to less than \$100,000. Nowhere does Stevens identify or even hint at what "irregular abusive filing" was made by Baute which would cause Stevens to have to reveal sensitive privileged information. That is because abuse of process cases are based entirely on the "irregular abusive filing," that causes real damages to the claimant. For example, a wrongfully filed lis pendens, filed not to win a lawsuit, but instead to block a profitable sale of real estate. Stevens does not identify any "irregular act" by Baute because there is none, and Stevens has been hiding his "damages" for three years because he has no damages at all.

Finally, Stevens sidesteps the fact that when a litigant seeks only fees as damages, he or she normally volunteers to produce the evidence quickly to support the damages. Here, Stevens chose to do the opposite, hiding even the most basic non-privileged time entries for years, while arguing that all discovery should be stayed or blocked. Even more absurd, Stevens argues that mere "bifurcation" or delay will solve the waiver

dilemma that he himself created, when, in fact, delay solves nothing because ultimately Stevens has to prove causation of the fee damages linked to "irregular abusive filings." It should be done efficiently in a single consolidated trial. The reason Stevens has engaged in such tactical sophistry and gamesmanship is simple: his goal is to stall, for as long as possible.

#### VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The bottom line here is Stevens failed in his Petition to establish that there is a significant public interest at stake. The Petition should be denied because bifurcation would be a costly and duplicative drain on the Court's and the parties' resources. Bifurcation is simply another tactic Stevens hopes to employ to avoid producing actual evidence to support his meritless counterclaim.

If Stevens spent half as much time preparing for trial as he does in seeking appellate review of adverse trial court and appellate decisions, then the parties would be that much closer to resolving the few issues that remain in this case. He instead diverts precious time and resources away from that endeavor. More to the point, he fails to present sufficient argument or authority to warrant revisiting the Court of Appeals affirmance of the trial court's discretionary discovery order.

## DATED this 2<sup>nd</sup> day of June, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ William W. Simmons

William W. Simmons, WSBA #35604 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 2700 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 436-2020 Attorneys for Respondents